# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,182

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

KENNETH D. DRIGGS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 304700

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 16, 1983, Mr. Swafford was charged by grand jury indictment with first degree murder, sexual battery and robbery. He pled not guilty. On October 28, 1985, the jury trial began. The jury returned guilty verdicts of first-degree murder and sexual battery. Mr. Swafford was acquitted of robbery. The penalty phase was conducted on November 7, 1985. Defense counsel presented no defense at the penalty phase proceedings. After the jury recommended death, Judge Hammond sentenced Mr. Swafford to death on November 12, 1985. This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence on direct appeal. Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (1988).

On September 7, 1990, Governor Martinez signed a death warrant setting Mr. Swafford's execution for November 13, 1990. This action operated to shorten Mr. Swafford's time to investigate and prepare a motion to vacate by six months. Further, the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR), the office responsible for providing effective representation to Mr. Swafford in collateral proceedings (Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988)), had been overwhelmed by Governor Martinez' warrant signing policies. In the fall of 1990, CCR was on the verge of collapse. CCR had more active warrants than it had experienced attorneys to work on them. The experienced attorneys, who had not yet resigned and/or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on March 27, 1989. As a result, Mr. Swafford's two year date under Rule 3.850 was March 27, 1991.

left, were burned out and in deteriorating health.<sup>2</sup> In fact on October 24, 1990, this Court entered an Administrative Order recognizing the difficulties confronting CCR (PC-R1. 361).

Mr. Swafford's case was assigned to Jerome Nickerson, who resigned on October 1, 1990, but agreed to remain on at CCR only until Mr. Swafford's execution was stayed. With regard to Mr. Swafford's case Mr. Nickerson stated in an affidavit submitted with the motion to vacate at issue here:

My name is Jerome H. Nickerson, Jr., and I was the lead attorney in Roy Swafford post-conviction litigation.

Under Governor Bob Martinez' death warrant policy, I became overworked and stressed to the point where my family life was destroyed, and my physical and mental health was substantially and significantly deteriorating.

For a variety of reasons (as outlined below), my investigation and litigation of Mr. Swafford's post-conviction proceedings fall below the requirements of effective legal representation as put forth in <a href="Spalding v. Dugger">Spalding v. Dugger</a>, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988).

From July 1990 to November of 1990, I became responsible for six clients that were under death warrant. In each of these cases I was required to conduct evidentiary hearings or arguments in state circuit court, federal district court and the Florida Supreme Court, in addition to preparing pleadings for filing in the Eleventh Circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>On October 1, 1990, Jerome Nickerson, Assistant CCR, resigned effective November 1, 1990. See Attachment A. October 8, 1990, Gail Anderson, Assistant CCR, resigned effective November 8, 1990. See Attachment B. Billy Nolas and Julie Naylor resigned effective December 31, 1990. Tom Dunn volunteered to be reactivated by the military and was sent to Saudi Arabia.

Court of Appeals and the United States Supreme Court.

In July of 1990 my wife filed for divorce. From September to mid-November I actually lived in my office in attempting to keep pace with the Governor's signing of warrants and my case load.

In one case I was required to litigate under warrant on three successive days coming within twelve hours of execution on each day before obtaining an indefinite stay of execution. In another, I was ordered to appear in Orlando by a federal judge to conduct a three day evidentiary hearing within an hour after being denied a stay of execution in the Florida Supreme Court. one instance with no assistance from any other attorney in my office, I was required to conduct an evidentiary hearing in Mr. Swafford's case under warrant and the next day, required to begin an evidentiary hearing in another case when the Florida Supreme Court refused to enter a writ of prohibition. In addition to my warrant cases, I was also required to conduct three evidentiary hearings in non-warrant cases.

During this period of time (July to November 1990) I was unable to properly investigate Mr. Swafford's case. In Mr. Swafford's pleadings I attempted to inform the various courts that things were out of hand, that the investigation was incomplete and request for public records had not been fully complied with. In my opinion the State's case against Mr. Swafford was weak and much needed to be done on the investigation, e.g. evaluating other suspects. Under the exigencies of the death warrant, however, an incomplete investigation was done in order to be able to comply with the court's filing requirements.

I knew that the penalty phase in Mr. Swafford's case was a strong claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, under the stress of the warrant system and death penalty litigation at lightning speed, I had failed to secure a final psychologist report evaluating Mr. Swafford. I was

attempting to gather the type of mitigating evidence that is highlighted in Dr. Fleming's report: That Roy Swafford suffers from organic brain damage, organic personality syndrome, and behavioral and emotional dyscontrol; that Roy is a product of an impoverished family, alcoholic father and harsh discipline as a child; and a combination of glue sniffing, alcohol abuse and head injury radically changed Roy's personality.

Days before Roy's scheduled execution the State released over 1500 pages of Chapter 119 material. There was no time to properly evaluate, investigate, reinvestigate and integrate the material in Mr. Swafford's pleadings. The type of Chapter 119 that CCR is now receiving that undermines the State's conviction of Mr. Swafford is what I was attempting to locate while handling Mr. Swafford's case. Furthermore, given the late date at which these documents were released there was no way that a professionally competent and thorough investigation could be completed. This directly impacted the pleadings that were filed and prevented me from providing Mr. Swafford with effective representation during this critical time period.

My performance in Roy Swafford's case is particularly painful because I firmly believe that Roy is innocent and I know that the State's case is very weak and suspect. If I was given the proper compliance by the State with 119 requests and was able to litigate without the stress of the multiple death warrant cases, Mr. Swafford's investigations and pleadings would have yielded the claims that CCR is presently developing.

It is my further understanding that CCR has now been provided at least 1500 additional documents which had thus far been withheld. This only underscores the point that I was trying to make to the courts under warrant, i.e., that the State was willfully refusing to comply with our legitimate and lawful requests. It is also apparent that this refusal existed prior to Mr. Swafford's trial and as a result he went to trial with

only a modicum of the existing facts at his disposal. Under the circumstances, I believe that fundamental fairness and the ends of justice dictates that his conviction be vacated.

On October 15, 1990, Mr. Swafford initiated post-conviction proceedings in state court. On October 18, 1990, counsel for Mr. Swafford filed a Motion to Compel production of documents under Fla. Statutes 119.01 et seq. pursuant to State v. Kokal, 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990). On October 22, 1990, the State submitted its response. In its Response, the State conceded the appropriateness of an evidentiary hearing (PC-R1. 367). State submitted two proposed orders on October 22, 1990, which granted an evidentiary hearing on the Brady and penalty phase ineffective assistance claims. As a result of exparte communication, the State sent out a notice of hearing on October 23, 1990, setting the matter for hearing on October 24, 1990. The State, during the October 24, 1990 hearing before the trial court repeated its concession of the need for an evidentiary hearing. Specifically the State conceded that a hearing was appropriate on the violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1967), as well as on the issue of ineffectiveness of counsel at

Although this response indicated service by fax on October 22, 1990, this Response was not stamped "filed" until October 31, 1990.

These draft orders were not included in the record on appeal sent to this Court. These orders clearly reflect the State's concession that an evidentiary hearing was required on Mr. Swafford's motion to vacate. These draft orders are included in the Appendix to this brief.

penalty phase (PC-R1. 7). Despite the State's <u>concessions</u>, no evidentiary hearing was held.

At the October 24, 1990, hearing, the State produced in excess of one thousand (1000) pages of additional documents that had not been previously given to the defense (PC-R1. 455). On October 30, 1990, the circuit court signed an order denying the motion to vacate (PC-R1 436-51). A comparison of this order to other pleadings and orders of record demonstrate that this denial was drafted by the State and signed by the judge on ex parte basis. Mr. Swafford's counsel was given no opportunity to review these documents. Mr. Swafford, who was then less than two weeks from scheduled execution, filed a Motion for Rehearing appending the newly produced Chapter 119 documents thereto. State thereupon moved to strike the Appendix. The circuit court denied the Motion for Rehearing and ordered that the Appendix be stricken from the record (PC-R1. 471). An examination of this order also reveals that it too was drafted by the State and submitted to the court ex parte.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This order should be compared to other pleadings filed by the State and the November 5, 1990 orders (PC-R1. 479-80). This comparison reveals that the State drafted the order the judge signed. The caption of this order contains a typographical error which appears in all of the State's pleadings. The State submitted this order ex parte.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>While the case was under warrant, CCR received a faxed copy of the signed orders. The faxing processing distorts the type, so that it was not obvious in the heat of the moment that the order had been drafted by the State and submitted on an ex parte basis.

On November 8, 1990, Mr. Swafford appealed to this Court. The record did not include the State's draft orders conceding that an evidentiary hearing was required. Oral argument was held on November 9, 1990. A temporary stay was issued until 1:00 p.m. on November 15, 1990. On November 14, 1990, this Court issued its opinion denying all relief. Swafford v. State, 569 So. 2d 1264 (1990). However, this Court was never advised of the exparte communications between the State and the circuit court.

Mr. Swafford next filed for federal habeas corpus review.

The federal district court denied relief. On November 15, 1990,
the Eleventh Circuit granted Mr. Swafford a stay of execution in
order to hear Mr. Swafford's appeal. Mr. Nickerson terminated
his employment with CCR the next day, November 16, 1990.

While the appeal was pending in the Eleventh Circuit, Mr. Swafford, through newly assigned counsel, conducted the investigation into his case which Mr. Nickerson had physically and emotionally been unable to conduct. Upon further review of the documents produced by the State under warrant, it was discovered that the State had failed to fully disclose all public records. Accordingly, on May 29, 1991, collateral counsel sent another request for public records to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement ("FDLE") again requesting production of all documents. On June 19, 1991, FDLE provided counsel with its file where additional documents were discovered that have materially impacted the investigation into this case.

Analysis of the newly disclosed FDLE records revealed that yet more documents were being withheld by the Volusia County Sheriff's Department ("VCSD"). Accordingly, CCR wrote to the VCSD and detailed eighty-three (83) documents or sets of documents known to exist but withheld by the State. On October 14, 1991, the VCSD provided counsel for Mr. Swafford with what was originally represented as the complete files. However upon inspection, none of the 83 documents or sets of documents were found. Counsel thereupon requested these items and was informed that the detectives at the VCSD maintained their own files. Arrangements were then made to meet with Detective Buscher on October 17, 1991, to review the additional records. Counsel's concurrent request to review the evidence held at the VCSD was summarily denied by Nancy Jones, Esq., counsel for Volusia County. On October 17, 1991, Detective Buscher produced two (2) "Banker's" boxes of materials. He indicated that they contained everything on the case and that all documents therein had been previously produced. However upon inspection, it was apparent that at least one half  $\binom{1}{2}$  of the documents had never before been given to the defense. Due to the volume of documents involved, counsel asked (over protest by Detective Buscher) to seal the documents with evidence tape and to return later for the actual copying.

On November 8, 1991, when the materials were produced by Detective Buscher, the seal had been broken, indicating that someone had gained access to the materials without advising CCR.

Detective Buscher represented that his partner had opened the box because he was looking for another file relating to a different case. One thousand four hundred forty-seven (1447) additional documents were photocopied, as were ninety-six (96) additional photographs.

Mr. Swafford filed a new Rule 3.850 motion on November 21, 1991. The State filed its response on February 10, 1992. Subsequently, on May 20, 1992, the State filed with the court a proposed Order Summarily Denying Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (PC-R. 1227-1233). A copy of this draft order was sent via regular mail to defense counsel. The circuit court signed the State's Order on May 22, 1992, before collateral counsel was advised that the State had prepared a draft or before counsel was given an opportunity to respond (PC-R. 1233). The Order was signed verbatim.

As a result of the ex parte communications between the circuit court and the State, Mr. Swafford filed a Motion for Rehearing and to Disqualify Judge and Supporting Points of Authority on June 8, 1992. On June 29, 1992, the circuit court denied Mr. Swafford's recusal request and rehearing motion. This appeal followed.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The circuit court denied Mr. Swafford's second Rule 3.850 motion by signing the State's draft order which found that a second Rule 3.850 motion is barred per se. The circuit court failed to address Mr. Swafford's contentions that cause existed which required consideration of the motion's merits. The circuit court did not accept Mr. Swafford's allegations as true and did not address: 1) whether Mr. Swafford's prior collateral counsel's mental, physical, and personal problems which precluded effective

assistance constituted cause; 2) whether the State's failure to comply with Chapter 119 constituted cause; 3) whether the undisclosed ex parte communications between the judge and the State constituted cause. Accepting the allegations as true, an evidentiary hearing is required; and the matter must be reversed and remanded.

- 2. The circuit court erroneously denied the motion to recuse. The presiding judge had engaged in ex parte communications with the State. This fact contained in the motion to recuse made the motion facially sufficient, and thus required the circuit court to order a recusal.
- 3. Mr. Swafford has been denied access to Chapter 119 materials. The circuit court denied this claim even though Mr. Swafford has proffered evidence demonstrating that, in October of 1990, the State withheld in excess of one thousand pages of material, and despite additional evidence of the State's refusal to turn over additional material which has been withheld so far. The circuit court erred in summarily denying this claim in light of the evidence and affidavits submitted by Mr. Swafford.
- 4. The State violated Mr. Swafford's constitutional rights when it withheld from defense counsel exculpatory evidence it possessed. The State had a wealth of exculpatory evidence which it never disclosed to the defense. It failed to correct false or misleading testimony which accrued to its benefit and Mr. Swafford's detriment. Confidence is undermined in the outcome as a result of the State's action or inaction.
- 5. Mr. Swafford's trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of the proceedings. He failed to insure that Mr. Swafford receive an adequate adversarial testing. Counsel failed to adequately investigate and litigate Mr. Swafford's case. As a result, confidence is undermined in the outcome.
- 6. Newly discovered evidence establishes that, had the jury heard all of the relevant evidence, it probably would have acquitted Mr. Swafford.
- 7. Mr. Swafford's trial counsel failed to render effective assistance at the penalty phase of Mr. Swafford's trial. He failed to insure that Mr. Swafford received an adequate adversarial testing. Counsel failed to investigate. Counsel failed to prepare. Counsel failed to know the state of the law. Counsel failed to litigate. Counsel failed to present a case for a life sentence. Counsel abandoned Mr. Swafford. As a result, confidence is undermined in the outcome.
- 8. <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u> establishes that Mr. Swafford's death sentence was the product of constitutionally invalid jury

instructions and the improper application of statutory aggravating circumstances.

#### ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF ALL OF MR. SWAFFORD'S CLAIMS WAS ERRONEOUS

The circuit court summarily denied Mr. Swafford's Rule 3.850 motion because Mr. Swafford had previously presented a Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R2. 1227-33). The circuit court's denial of an evidentiary hearing and Rule 3.850 relief was erroneous. Mr. Swafford's Rule 3.850 motion presented meritorious claims demonstrating that he is factually innocent of the offense for which he awaits execution. Moreover, the State clearly interfered with and impeded Mr. Swafford's access to the courts in his initial Rule 3.850 proceedings. The State intentionally sought to wear down Mr. Swafford's counsel, thereby depriving Mr. Swafford of his statutory right. The State refused to fully and timely comply with Chapter 119. The State provided one thousand pages of new Chapter 119 material on October 24, 1990, thereby depriving collateral counsel of the opportunity to review those The State engaged in ex parte communications with the judge, drafting for him on an ex parte basis orders denying the motion to vacate and motion for rehearing. These claims required an evidentiary hearing when presented in Mr. Swafford's second motion to vacate.

# A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING A PROCEDURAL BAR TO MR. SWAFFORD'S CLAIMS

If this were Mr. Swafford's first Rule 3.850 motion, there can be no doubt that an evidentiary hearing would be ordered.

Mr. Swafford's Rule 3.850 motion presented facts which demonstrate he is factually innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death, and, on the basis of those facts, presented claims premised upon Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and Richardson v. State, 546 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 1989). These are the types of claims which have been traditionally recognized as properly presented in Rule 3.850 motions and which have been traditionally recognized as requiring an evidentiary hearing for their proper resolution. See, e.g., Squires v. State, 513 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1987) (allegations of Brady violations require evidentiary hearing); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988) (same); Heiney v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1990) (allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel require evidentiary hearing); Mills v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1990) (same); Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 1990) (newly discovered evidence requires evidentiary hearing); Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989) (allegations of Brady/Giglio violations require evidentiary hearing).

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