FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 7 1992

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

192

v.

CASE NO. 80, 1-9-2

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #302015
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,182

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

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

him to death the judge specifically considered and relied upon the jury's death recommendation.

Second, Swafford complains that the fifth instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance was the identical instruction held to violate the Eighth Amendment in Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992). Swafford notes that the limitation approved in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976), was not utilized by the jury. Under Espinosa, Swafford argues that it must be presumed that the jury found this aggravator and weighed it against the mitigating circumstances. The judge considered the jury's death recommendation in sentencing him to death and, as a result, Swafford argues that an extra thumb was placed on the death side of the jury scale.

Third, Swafford complains that the jury was not instructed in the sixth instruction that before the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor could be applied that the jury must find "a careful plan or prearranged design." Swafford further argues that the CCP aggravating circumstance is overbroad. He acknowledges that this court has applied narrowing or limiting constructions by holding that it is reserved for murders "characterized as execution or contract murders or those involving the elimination of witnesses" and by requiring a "heightened" form of premeditation. Swafford complains however, that these narrowing appellate limitations were not provided to his jury for consideration.

Fourth, Swafford complains of the existence of an automatic aggravator. He alleges that he was convicted on the basis of felony murder and that the use of the underlying felony as an aggravating factor violated the Eighth Amendment because the aggravating circumstance of "in the course of a felony" was not a means of genuinely removing the class of death-eligible persons and thereby channeling the jury's discretion. Felony murder was found as a statutory aggravating circumstance. The murder was allegedly committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery. Unlike the situation in Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988), Swafford alleges that the narrowing function did not occur at the guilt phase.

Fifth, Swafford complains that no limiting instructions were provided in the fourth jury instruction dealing with the aggravator of the crime being committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. Pursuant to Geralds v. State, 601 So.2d 1157, 1163 (Fla. 1992), Perry v. State, 522 So.2d 817, 820 (Fla. 1988), and Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987),

Swafford contends that the jury should have been instructed that the finding of this aggravating factor requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the dominant or the only motive for the murder was the elimination of a witness and that the mere fact that the victim could identify the defendant, without more, is insufficient to prove this factor beyond a reasonable doubt.

Swafford argues that all of these various claims can be entertained under Espinosa, which, he maintains, is a change in Florida law. He insists that this court must now conduct a harmless analysis which comports with the Eighth Amendment and Stringer v. Black, 112 S.Ct. 1130 (1992). He further argues that application of the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard requires this court to presume an error was harmful unless and until the state proves that there is no possibility that the jury vote for death would have changed but for the extra thumbs on the death side of the scale. He argues that it would be impossible to understand how the jury vote would not have been affected by the erroneous application of "heinous, atrocious and cruel" and "cold, calculated and premeditated." Swafford notes that the judge found mitigation present but indicates that the question is what the jury could have found and whether a binding life recommendation could have been returned. He argues that other mitigating evidence was present in the record that the jury could have reasonably have found warranted a life sentence. Even with the six unconstitutionally vague instructions, the jury vote recommending death was split. He concludes that the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under Espinosa and Stringer.

In Claim VII of his second motion to vacate judgment and sentence Swafford argued that the sheer number and types of errors involved in his trial when considered as a whole, virtually dictated the sentence he would receive (2 PCR 116). He further noted "The flaws in the system which sentenced Mr. Swafford to death are many. They have been pointed out throughout not only this pleading, but also in Mr. Swafford's direct appeal, and initial Rule 3.850 Motion and State Habeas Petition and while there are means for addressing each individual

error, the fact is that addressing these errors on an individual basis will not afford adequate safeguard against an improperly imposed death sentence..." (2 PCR 116). Swafford then recited claims previously raised on direct appeal and in his initial Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. claims admittedly raised in the first 3.850 motion was the claim that "Mr. Swafford's sentencing jury was improperly instructed on "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating the circumstance, and the aggravator was improperly argued and imposed, in violation of Maynard v. Cartwright, Hitchcock v. Dugger, and the eighth and fourteenth amendments." (2 PCR 121). The lower court found all the recited but unarqued instances of alleged error to be procedurally barred in a successive petition and found the claim raised issues already presented and litigated on direct appeal and in a previous motion to vacate (2 PCR 1233).

The record reflects that prior to giving the instructions the court stated "For the record, counsel has met with the Court concerning possible instructions to be given at this proceeding, and I'm asking counsel at this time is there any objection to the proposed instructions that have been tentatively worked out?" Defense counsel responded "Not on behalf of the defense, Your Honor." (R 1460-61). This claim was not raised on direct appeal. Swafford filed a boilerplate claim in Point IV on his direct appeal complaining that the aggravating circumstances have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner in Florida (Initial Brief of Appellant, p.46). This court held that "This broadside attack on the sentencing law is not related, in Swafford's

argument, to any action or ruling in the lower court that affected his sentencing. Moreover, Swafford did not raise or preserve these issues for appeal by motion or objection in the lower court. For these reasons we are unable to provide appellate review of the issues raised." Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 278 (Fla. 1988). In his first Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion Swafford complained that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel instruction violates Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988). This court found the claim to be procedurally barred because it should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990).

This issue should not be revisited on a successive motion. Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992), was not argued below and provides no basis for reconsideration of a procedurally defaulted claim by this court. It is a settled rule of Florida procedure that, in order to preserve an objection, a party must object after the trial judge has instructed the jury except where there has been an advance request for a specific jury instruction that is explicitly denied. See, Harris v. State, 438 So.2d 787, 795 (Fla. 1983); Buford v. Wainwright, 428 So.2d 1389, 1390 (Fla. 1983). In Ragsdale v. State, 17 F.L.W. S620 (Fla. Oct. 15, 1992), this court clarified its opinion to address the jury instruction issue that arose by reason of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Espinosa and citing Sochor v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2123 (1992), found that "although the instruction was given to the jury, this issue was neither preserved at trial nor raised in this appeal."

17 F.L.W. at S622. Most recently in Melendez v. State, No. 75,081 (Fla. Nov. 12, 1992), this court held a previous finding that the matter was not preserved to be dispositive, notwithstanding the intervening decision in Espinosa. For the same reasons that Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), and Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738 (1990), were found not to have announced a new rule in Stringer v. Black, 112 S.Ct. 1130 (1992), Swafford had the tools to timely raise this claim and need not have awaited the decision in Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992), to raise the claim. The decision in Maynard was controlled by Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420 (1980), and did not announce a new rule. 112 S.Ct. at 1136. This claim could have been raised at the time of trial and on direct appeal on the basis of then-existing precedent.

Should this court find the claim is not barred, relief is Espinosa, holds that an aggravating circumstance not warranted. weighed in determining whether to impose the death penalty is invalid if its description is so vaque as to leave the sentencer without sufficient quidance for determining the presence or absence of the factor and it is necessary under the Florida sentencing scheme that the jury not be permitted to weigh invalid aggravating circumstances. See, Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926, This is so because the trial court gives great 2928 (1992). weight to the jury's recommendation and thereby indirectly weighs the invalid aggravating factor that it had to be assumed the jury found. 112 S.Ct. at 2928. This reasoning is flawed and should be addressed by this court. What the judge gives great weight to is a recommendation of life or death. He or she can only

hypothesize the reasoning behind the recommendation. The judge cannot follow in the error or tilt the scale toward the side of death because his reasoning is constrained by the edicts of this court. Prior to the penalty phase in this case this court held that the HAC factor could be supported by evidence of actions of the offender preceding the actual killing, including forcible transportation away from possible sources assistance and detection, and sexual abuse. See, e.g., Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257, 1264 (Fla. 1983); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380, 391 (Fla. 1983); Smith v. State, 424 So.2d 726, 733 (Fla. 1982); Griffin v. State, 414 So.2d 1025, 1029 (Fla. 1982). The court also held that fear and emotional strain preceding a victim's almost instantaneous death may be considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the capital felony. Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850, 857 (Fla. 1982). This is the law this court created and later applied on appeal in this case. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988). What is the purpose or value of case law if it is not a directive to the lower judiciary? Under Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), it must be presumed that the trial judge in the case at hand was familiar with this body of case It follows from such presumption that this case law is the basis for finding the HAC factor, especially since the judge could not know if the jury even considered the factor. 4 The Espinosa decision was based on the fallacious notion that "Florida has essentially split the weighing process in two." Espinosa v.

⁴ Even a properly instructed jury could ignore an aggravating factor or consider it inappropriately.

Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 2928 (1992). Having been armed with the law, it is clear that the trial judge is a superior actor and not simply a co-actor with the jury. This misconception was evidently given life based on theories gleaned from a reading of Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). The Tedder problem is a recurring one because it is all too easy to postulate what it is Tedder stands for. Unless this court sets parameters, a perfectly valid aggravating factor must be deemed invalid under reasoning in Espinosa. Perhaps the best method would be to make Tedder does not instruct the clear what Tedder does not hold. sentencing judge to ignore the law and blindly follow the jury. The judge is actually a check on the jury, which is more likely to act on whim or caprice, being legally untrained. is a check against misapplication of the ultimate penalty for political gain and its proportionality review ensures that like crimes are punished uniformly. For all intents and purposes this court is the ultimate sentencer. It creates the law and ensures ensures that the sentence it is applied. Ιt proportionality analysis proportional. Its retroactively skewed if a jury override was stricken solely because the community wanted the offender to live. court still undertakes such analysis it must be assumed that proportionality unsuccessful overrides fall down in the department, as well. Under such a trifurcated system it hardly matters that an advisory body of laymen is not instructed on up to the minute case law. Under such a system the jury is not a That the decision in Espinosa ignores the role of this

court is no better reflected than in this case. This court performed its Clemons function on direct appeal and ensured that a misinstructed jury did not, in fact, find an act to be heinous, atrocious or cruel which was not. Now, because of a misreading of Tedder, the court is asked to look at the sentence anew and pretend that the murder was not heinous, atrocious or cruel even the victim was abducted, terrorized, sodomized and tauntingly shot nine times, with most of the bullets directed at the torso and extremities. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 278 (Fla. 1988). Under Espinosa this court erred in applying its own case law and reaching the right result because a layman was not apprised of evolutionary refinement in case law. Such a result was achieved by giving such layman equal status with not only the sentencing judge but necessarily with this court as well. It is clear that this is an extremely heinous, atrocious and cruel Under Florida's trifurcated system jury error is cured crime. and this factor was properly applied. In a similar case this court declined to strike a properly applied HAC factor and determined that any error in instruction was harmless since there was no reasonable possibility that the erroneous instruction contributed to the jury recommendation. See, Melendez v. State, No. 75,081 (Fla. Nov. 12, 1992). What remains to be accomplished is to simply make clear that Tedder does not authorize giving great weight to hypothesized jury misapplications of aggravating factors because the sentencing judge's very role is to ensure such factors are correctly applied in accordance with the precedents of this court.

Even in the event this court should look anew at the sentence, after eliminating the HAC factor, the same result should obtain upon a harmless error analysis considering the remaining aggravating factors and the minuscule evidence in mitigation.

Swafford further complains that limiting appellate constructions were not provided to the jury in their instructions on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor and the avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest aggravator. This is Espinosa taken to its "umpteenth power." The suggested limiting instructions for the large part did not evolve in case law until years after Swafford's trial. If left untouched Espinosa will provide authority for arguing for constant resentencing in older cases simply on the basis of the evolution of the law. clairvoyance expected of the trial judge must also be expected of defense counsel, however. If these claims do flow from Espinosa, then the jury instructions should have been objected to at trial and the issues raised on appeal on the basis of $Godfrey\ v.\ Georgia$ or any existing opinions of this court. This court has already indicated in its opinion on appeal from the denial of post conviction relief that the attack on the CCP instruction should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal and found such claim procedurally barred. Swafford v. Dugger, 509 So.2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990).

The claim that the jury was instructed that it could consider the same aggravator twice is likewise not preserved.

The "automatic aggravator" claim was rejected by this court on direct appeal. The court found that Swafford's first degree murder conviction is based on premeditation rather than the felony-murder rule. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 278 (Fla. 1988). This argument has been repeatedly rejected. Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208, 22 (Fla.) cert. denied, 469 U.S. 892 (1984). Espinosa provides no occasion at all to revisit this issue.

CONCLUSION

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